# Dispersants, Salinity and Prince William Sound

for

## Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council (PWSRCAC) Anchorage, Alaska

by

Merv Fingas Environmental Technology Centre Environment Canada

December, 2004

#### Abstract

This paper is a summary of the effects of water salinity on chemical dispersion, especially those effects related to effectiveness. Surfactants are the active ingredient in dispersants. The surfactant is more lipophilic, or oil-loving, in freshwater and increases in hydrophilicity (or water-loving) as the salinity rises. The stability of the resulting droplets is also dependent on salinity. This is due to the increasing ionic strength of the water as salinity rises. As the salinity rises above a certain point, which depends on the particular type of surfactant, this increased force results in more surfactant molecules leaving the oil drop entirely. While the theoretical possibility of freshwater dispersants exist, the stability of dispersions in less saline waters would be less.

This report reviews several older dispersant tests. Data from these tests were separated from more recent data because older testing procedures and analytical methods are not as accurate as today's methods. Newer testing is reviewed as well. This testing is marked by the use of analysis by chromatography and very strict protocols in operating the dispersant tests themselves. These tests are marked by having standard deviations less that 10% and often less than 5%. The conclusions from both recent and older studies are the same.

The general surfactant literature was reviewed for the effects of salinity on surfactants and surfactant phenomena. There is a body of literature on the use of surfactants for secondary oil recovery. There are some commonalities among the many findings. Recovery efficiency falls off at both high and low salinities. The salinity at which surfactant efficiency peaks is very dependent on the structure of the specific surfactant. Several studies on the interaction of specific hydrocarbons and surfactants were reviewed. The consensus of these papers is that the solubility of the hydrocarbon increases with increasing salinity and is low at low salinities. The interfacial tension of water and oil changes with surfactant and salinity. The interfacial tension is higher at lower salinities. The optimal interfacial tension is generally achieved at salinities of between 25 to 35 o/oo. A number of physical systems involving surfactants and salinity changes are reported in the literature. Included in these is the finding that the stability of microemulsions is greater at salinities of 25 to 35o/oo. Some workers found that the stability of systems was very low in fresh water or in water with salinities of < 10 o/oo.

Some field studies of dispersant application were conducted in the freshwater environment. While effectiveness was not specifically measured, it was noted in both series of studies that effectiveness may have been low. In the one study, the investigators noted that the surfactants had poor effectiveness and stability in freshwater. In this particular case, the dispersion lasted only for about an hour and the dispersion was limited to a few centimetres. In another case, it was noted that there was oil around the edges of the dispersed pond within a short time of dispersant application.

Some effects studies were conducted under varying salinity conditions. In one study, naphthalene and a,b napthol sulphate uptake were studied under different salinity conditions. There were no significant differences at different salinities, although, naphthalene uptake was somewhat higher under low salinity conditions. Another study examined the induction of hsp60 protein in goldenbrown algae. It was found that greater salinity reduced the effects of the simulated oil spills on the algae.

The varying salinities of the waters in Prince William Sound were described and summarized. There are areas around the Sound of low salinity. Dispersant applications in these areas would result in reduced dispersant effectiveness.

The following are the overall conclusions of this study.

a) The effectiveness of conventional and currently available dispersants is very low at 0 o/oo or sometimes they are even completely ineffective. This is consistent with physical studies described in the surfactant literature.

b) Dispersant effectiveness peaks at 20 to 40 o/oo. This may depend on the type of dispersant. Corexit 9500 appears to be less sensitive to salinity but still shows a peak at about 35 o/oo. Corexit 9527 is more sensitive to salinity and appears to peak at about 25 o/oo with some oils and with others at about 35 o/oo.

c) There is a relatively smooth gradient of effectiveness with salinity both as the salinity rises to a peak point of effectiveness and as it exceeds this value.

d) While there is some evidence for a temperature-salinity interaction, as noted in the data of Moles et al., 2002, there are not enough data to make solid conclusions.

e) Recent data are largely taken using Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500. Since these have the same surfactant packages, there is a concern that the results may be more relevant to these formulations than to others.

f) Observations on two field trials in freshwater appear to indicate that the laboratory tests are correct in concluding very low freshwater effectiveness.

g) There were few studies on the biological effects of oil with varying salinity. There are not sufficient data to reach conclusions.

h) The findings in the dispersant literature summarized in this study are in agreement with the theoretical and basic surfactant literature.

i) The salinity of the waters in Prince William Sound is typically high in the centre of the Sound, but is sometimes low, especially near river outfalls, and in fjords with tidewater glaciers. The salinities in these areas, often less than 15 o/oo, will result in lower dispersant effectiveness.

#### Summary and Issues

#### Overall

The relationship between salinity and overall effectiveness of dispersants is reviewed in this document.

#### **Specific Issues**

The following is a summary of the specific issues and technical concerns related to salinity and dispersants.

1. It is very clear that salinity changes the effectiveness of conventional oil spill dispersants. In water with low salinity, these products have low effectiveness, even approaching zero.

2. There is very clear agreement on the effect of salinity and the relative changes this causes in dispersant effectiveness. There are a few exceptions, but these are all in the older literature and relate to studies with questionable analytical methods.

3. There are several outstanding questions: whether or not salinity changes any toxicity thresholds and whether there is an interaction between temperature and salinity.

#### Conclusions

The following are the overall conclusions of this study.

a) In waters with a salinity of 0 o/oo, conventional and currently available dispersant have a very low effectiveness or are sometimes even completely ineffective. This is consistent with physical studies in the surfactant literature.

b) Dispersant effectiveness peaks in waters with a salinity ranging from 20 to 40 o/oo. This may depend on the type of dispersant. Corexit 9500 appears to be less sensitive to salinity but still peaks at about 35 o/oo. Corexit 9527 is more sensitive to salinity and appears to peak at about 25 o/oo with some oils and at about 35 o/oo with others.

c) There is a relatively smooth gradient of effectiveness with salinity both as the salinity rises to a peak point of effectiveness and after it exceeds this value. The curves for this salinity effect appear to be Gaussian.

d) While there is some evidence for a temperature-salinity interaction as noted in the data of Moles et al., 2002, there is not enough data to make solid conclusions.

e) Recent data are almost exclusively measured using Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500. Since these have the same surfactant packages, there is a concern that the results may be more relevant to these formulations than to all possible formulations.

f) Observations on two field trials in freshwater appear to indicate that the laboratory tests are correct in concluding very low dispersant effectiveness in freshwater.

g) There were few studies on the biological effects of varying salinity and given oil exposure. There are not sufficient data to reach conclusions.

h) The findings in the dispersant literature reviewed here are in agreement with those in the theoretical and basic surfactant literature. The effect of ionic strength and salinity on both hydrophilic-lipophilic balance and stability is the reason for the decreased effectiveness noted at low salinities and the same decrease at high salinities above a certain peak of about 20 to 40 o/oo.

i) The waters in Prince William Sound are sometimes low in salinity, often less than 15 o/oo, especially near river outfalls and in bays. This will result in lower dispersant effectiveness.

#### List of Acronyms

ANS - Alaska North Slope - Usually referring to the crude oil mixture at the end of the pipeline

ASMB - Alberta Sweet Mixed Blend - a type of crude oil

CTAC - Cetyltrimetyl ammonium bromide (a surfactant)

CTAB - Cetyltrimetyl ammonium chloride (a surfactant)

Corexit 9527 - Brand name of a dispersant from Exxon

Corexit 9500 - Brand name of a dispersant from Exxon

DLVO - Derjaguin Landau Verway Overbeek - A reference to a theory on surfactant stabilization, with each letter referring to the author of the original theory.

DO - Dispersed oil

EPA - US Environmental Protection Agency

EXDET - An Exxon laboratory test for dispersants

GC - Gas Chromatograph, a chemical analytical technique

HLB - Hydrophilic-lipophilic balance

IFP - The French Petroleum Institute - Usually used here as a description of their laboratory test

IFT - Interfacial tension

PAH - Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons

PWSRCAC - Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council

RSD - Relative standard deviation

WAF - Water-Accommodated Fraction - The sum total of oil in a water sample including physically dispersed and soluble oil

## Acknowledgements

The author thanks Lisa Ka'aihue of the Regional Citizens' Advisory Council of Prince William Sound, who is the contract manager for this project. The author also thanks Jennifer Charles for her editorial work and Lloyd Gamble for collecting the references necessary for this report.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstra Summ List of Ackno	ary and Issues Acronyms wledgements	iii v vi vii
1.	Introduction         1.1       Objective         1.2       Scope         1.3       Organization	1 1 1
2.	Review of Salinity and Dispersant Effectiveness	2
3.	Older Laboratory Testing or Colorimetric Measures	3
4.	Recent Laboratory Testing	5
5.	Salinity Effects in Surfactant Literature	7
6.	Field Studies and Effects Studies	9
7.	Salinity in Prince William Sound	10
8.	Summary	10
9.	Conclusions	13
10.	References	43
List of	<b>Tables</b> Summary of Testing of Salinity Effects on Dispersant Effectiveness	11
2	Data from Belk et al 1989	15
3	Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Fingas et al., 1991	16
4	Results of Older Salinity Testing.	16
5	Results of Salinity Testing from Brandvik and Daling, 1992	17
6	Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Fingas et al., 1994, 1995b	18
7	Data from Moet et al., 1995	18
8	Data from George-Ares et al., 2001	18
9	Dispersant Effectiveness Measured by Blondina et al., 1997 a, b	19
10	Dispersant Effectiveness Measured by Blondina et al., 1999	19
11	Data from Moles et al., 2001, 2002	20
12	(Data from Moles et al., 2001, 2002)	20
13	Salinity and Effectiveness (Data from Fingas et al., 2003)	21
14	Summary of Authors and Findings from Surfactant Literature	22
15	Quantitative Data on Salinity Changes from Salinity Literature	23

16	Results of Metabolite Uptake (from Wolfe et al., 1998)
17	Recent Salinity Measurement Results
List of	f Figures
1	Salinity and Dispersant Test Results from Belk et al., 1989
2	Dispersant E and F Data from Belk et al., 1989
3	Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity from Fingas et al., 1991
4	Salinity and Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Byford et al., 1983
	and Lehtinen and Vesala, 1984
5	Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity from Brandvik and Daling, 1992
	and Brandvik et al., 1995
6	Dispersant/Salinity Test on Two Inipol Dispersants - Inipol IFC -
	A Special Freshwater Dispersant (Data from Brandvik and Daling, 1992
	and Brandvik et al., 1995) 29
7	Tests on Dispersant Effects with Varying Salinity (Data from
	Fingas et al., 1994)
8	Dispersant Effectiveness Data for Corexit 9527 and a Light
	Arabian Crude (Data from Moet et al., 1995)
9	Dispersant Effectiveness Data on Prudhoe Bay Crude
	(Data from Blondina et al., 1997 a,b)
10	Effectiveness of Corexit 9500 with Salinity (Data from Blondina et al., 1999) 31
11	Effectiveness of Corexit 9527 with Salinity (Data from Blondina et al., 1999) 31
12	Three-way Relationship of Effectiveness, Salinity, and Temperature for
	Corexit 9527 and Fresh ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)
13	Three-way Relationship of Effectiveness, Salinity, and Temperature for
	Corexit 9500 and Fresh ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)
14	Three-way Correlation of Corexit 9527 Effectiveness with Fresh ANS
	(Data from Moles et al., 2002)
15	Three-way Correlation of Corexit 9500 Effectiveness with Fresh ANS
	(Data from Moles et al., 2002)
16	Three-way Correlation of Corexit 9527 Effectiveness with Weathered
	ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)
17	Three-way Correlation of Corexit 9500 Effectiveness with Weathered
	ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)
18	Variation of Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity
1.0	(Data from Fingas et al., 2003)
19	Measured Zeta Potential Values of Chemically Dispersed Crude Oil
• •	Droplets at Selected pH Values (Data from Sterling et al., 2004)
20	Effect of Shear Rate on Collision Efficiency (Data from Sterling et al., 2004) 36
21	Variation in Uptake of Naphthalene by Algae (Data from Wolfe et al., 1998)
22	Variation in Uptake of a, b Naphthol Sulphate by Algae
00	(Data trom Wolfe et al., 1998)
23	An Overview of Prince William Sound Showing Detailed Sample Sites
24	A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Zaikof Bay Sampling Site
25	A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Eaglek Sampling Site
26	A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Whale Bay Sampling Site
27	A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Simpson Bay Sampling Site

## 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Objective

The objective of this paper is to address the issue of the effectiveness of dispersants in waters of various salinities, such as are found in Prince William Sound.

## 1.2 Scope

This paper covers the literature from the inception of the oil spill concern to August of 2004 and focuses primarily on issues related to variations in dispersant effectiveness caused by salinity.

## 1.3 Organization

The paper begins with a summary and outline of the issues. The overall effects of salinity on dispersant effectiveness are reviewed in Section 2. Laboratory testing or colorimetric measures used in older studies are reviewed in Section 3, while more recent laboratory testing is discussed in Section 4. Section 5 reviews the surfactant literature for studies on the effects of salinity. Field studies and effects studies are discussed in Section 6. The varying salinities found in the waters of Prince William Sound are discussed in Section 7. Section 8 consists of the summary and Section 9, the conclusions of this report.

The tables and figures referred to in the text have been placed at the end of the text, before Section 10, which lists the References.

## 2. Review of Salinity and Dispersant Effectiveness

Dispersant effectiveness is defined as the amount of oil that the dispersant puts into the water column versus that which remains on the surface. Effectiveness as used in this report will be constant throughout.

Surfactants have varying solubilities in water and varying actions toward oil and water. The parameter used to characterize surfactants is the hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB) (Becher, 1977). HLB is determined using theoretical equations that relate the length of the water-soluble portion of the surfactant to the oil-soluble portion of the surfactant. A surfactant with an HLB between 1 and 8 promotes the formation of water-in-oil emulsions and one with an HLB between 12 and 20 promotes the formation of oil-in-water emulsions. A surfactant with an HLB between 8 and 12 may promote either type of emulsion, but generally promotes oil-in-water emulsions. Dispersants have an HLB in this range.

Dispersants are oil spill treating agents formulated to disperse oil into water in the form of fine droplets. Typically, the HLB of dispersants ranges from 9 to 11. Ionic surfactants can be rated using an expanded scale and have HLBs ranging from 25 to 40. Ionic surfactants are strong water-in-oil emulsifiers, very soluble in water and relatively insoluble in oil, which generally work from the water onto any oil present. Such products disappear rapidly in the water column and are not effective on oil.

Because they are readily available at a reasonable price, however, many ionic surfactants are proposed for use as dispersants. These agents are better classified as surface-washing agents. Some dispersants contain ionic surfactants in small proportions, yielding a total HLB closer to 15 than 10. No studies have been done on the specific effect of this on effectiveness or mode of action. A typical dispersant formulation consists of a pair of non-ionic surfactants in proportions to yield an average HLB of 10 and some proportion of ionic surfactants. Studies have been done on this mixture, one of which used statistical procedures in an attempt to determine the best mixture of the three ingredients.

It is well known in surface science that the hydrophilic portion of a surfactant is strongly affected by the salinity (Becher, 1977). This is a result of ionic strength. The greater the salinity, the greater the ionic strength and thus the greater the stability of the surfactant-stabilized droplet.

Dispersants have long been noted as being less effective in less saline waters. Martinelli and Lynch (1980) noted this as a factor to be considered. Despite this knowledge, several workers presumed that effectiveness was the same or similar in less saline water. Peabody (1982) proposed dispersant use in freshwater and noted that the concerns might be the different toxicity to aquatic species. McAuliffe (1989) developed scenarios for the use of dispersants in the nearshore environment to protect the ecosystem from surface oil damage. The assumption is that there is no reduction in effectiveness with decreasing salinity and that the effectiveness is 100%. Flaherty et al. (1989) reviewed the development of guidelines for using dispersants in fresh water and also did not note any concern about the decrease in effectiveness with decreasing salinity. This indicates that the effect of salinity was not necessarily well known among all oil spill workers, particularly those not involved in full-time research.

#### 3. Older Laboratory Testing or Colorimetric Measures

While studies were conducted on the effectiveness of dispersants early in the history of oil spill dispersants (Martinelli and Lynch, 1980), proper quantitative methods did not appear until the mid-90s. Early methods using colorimetric analysis are in question (Fingas, 1995a). One older colorimetric method of measuring laboratory dispersant effectiveness uses a small aliquot of the dispersion test water, extracts the oil, usually with methylene chloride, and then measures the colour at a specific wavelength. This value is compared to a standard curve and effectiveness calculated. The standard curve was traditionally prepared by injecting the appropriate amount of oil directly into the methylene chloride and measuring colour density. It was found that the traditional approach of preparing standard curves was somewhat in error because the simple addition of water to the extraction process produced some colouration in the methylene chloride, despite drying the extract. This results in inflated effectiveness values.

Experiments comparing correct chromatographic methods and colorimetric methods showed that the latter could yield errors as much as 300 o/oo. More typical medium oils showed errors of only a few percent, but heavy oils again showed significant error because of the different wavelengths at which they are absorbed. Gas chromatography is the only accurate means to analyze for dispersant effectiveness. Many values from effectiveness tests conducted in the past using colorimetric methods are questionable. For this reason, the data relating salinity and effectiveness are separated into those obtained by colorimetric and chromatographic methodologies. All literature surveyed in Sections 3 and 4 is summarized in Table 1. It should be noted that much of the older literature reported data in graph form and not in tables. The numeric data was estimated from the graphs and subsequently re-plotted.

Belk et al. (1989) studied the effectiveness of dispersants in the Labofina laboratory apparatus. They tested several dispersants at a range of salinities and found that all dispersants were less effective at lower salinities. Belk et al. also tested freshwater dispersants and found that these showed similar behaviour and were less effective at lower salinity. These researchers also found that the ionic strength and the type of ion changed the effectiveness of freshwater dispersants. The data for several oils are given in Table 2 and re-plotted as shown in Figure 1. The dispersants tested are not named but are noted alphabetically.

Most of the dispersants show the same tendency, that is the effectiveness decreases to low values near zero salinity. The dispersant tendency also decreases after achieving a maximum of about 20 to 25 degrees salinity. One dispersant, designated 'c', did not behave in quite the same manner, but the authors note that this dispersant is neither typical nor common. Although these data will be compared to recent data, the tendency is the same throughout the data reported in this paper. Figure 2 shows the data for freshwater dispersants. This shows that even the freshwater dispersants have low effectiveness at low salinities and peak at a salinity of about 10 o/oo.

Fingas et al. (1991) studied the effectiveness of dispersant-oil combinations under a variety of salinity conditions using the swirling flask test and colorimetric measurement. They found that the effectiveness peaked at between 40 to 45 o/oo and then dropped rapidly to low values. These data are given in Table 3 and illustrated in Figure 3. This is one of the few data sets to include salinities beyond about 40 o/oo.

Clayton et al. (1992, 1993) reviewed the effect of salinity in the literature and summarized many of the old data. Fritz (1995) also reviews these data. The first numeric results were by Wells and Harris (1979) who report a sharp effect in going from fresh to saltwater. The results are summarized in Table 4 and illustrated in Figure 4 (also includes data from Byford et al., 1983 and Lehtinen and Vesala, 1984). These older data generally show the same tendencies as described by other workers later, although the data are much noisier as would be expected. Byford et al. employed the Labofina test and Lehtinen, the Mackay test.

Brandvik and Daling (1992) and Brandvik et al. (1995) studied the effectiveness of dispersants at low temperatures and salinity for application in the Arctic. They used the IFP test and found that most dispersant-oil combinations showed a large decrease in effectiveness at lower salinities. One dispersant intended for use in freshwater, Inipol IPF, showed the opposite tendency. These data are given in Table 5 and shown in Figures 5 and 6. Most dispersant-oil combinations showed very low effectiveness at low salinities.

Fingas et al. (1994, 1995b) studied the effectiveness of dispersant-oil combinations under a variety of salinity conditions and produced a salinity curve similar to that noted above. They found that the effectiveness peaked at between 30 to 40 o/oo and then dropped rapidly to low values. These data are given in Table 6 and illustrated in Figures 7. This is a data set that again shows a decrease in effectiveness after a peak at about 30 o/oo.

MacKay (1995) reported on tests conducted at Exxon using the Exdet tests. Effectiveness was reported as staying constant, although rising somewhat from the salinity values of 5 through to 35 o/oo. The effectiveness was also reported to be very low in freshwater. These tests were done for Prudhoe Bay crude and Corexit 9527.

Moet et al. (1995) tested the effectiveness of Corexit 9527 on light Arabian crude over a series of salinities, using the Labofina or Warren Springs test. The salinity effect was the same as found by Fingas et al., 1992, 1994, 1995b. The effectiveness peaked at about 33 o/oo and then again decreased. These results are shown in Table 7 and illustrated in Figure 8. Moet's results show the same tendency as results from Fingas et al. (1992, 1994, 1995b) in that the effectiveness peaks at about a salinity of 30 o/oo and then falls rapidly as salinity increases.

George-Ares et al. (2001) tested the effectiveness of various dispersants in river water, distilled water, and water with calcium chloride added. The Exdet apparatus was used to carry out the tests. The lowest effectiveness was found in the distilled water and the effectiveness was higher in the river water. Adding calcium chloride to the dispersant increased the effectiveness above that of the river water. These results, as shown in Table 8, are generally consistent with those noted previously in that a decrease in effectiveness is noted with a decrease in salinity.

Guyomarch et al. (2002) tested the effect of dispersants and variables such as salinity on the aggregate formation with clay. They found that the aggregate particle size increased with increasing salinity.

#### 4. Recent Laboratory Testing

The effectiveness of dispersion at different temperatures and salinity has been measured using various tests. Blondina et al. (1997a, b) measured the effectiveness of dispersing Prudhoe Bay crude at 20°C and 20‰ as 23% for Corexit 9500 and 13% for Corexit 9527, using the EPA swirling flask method. The results also show that, for the same tests, the use of colorimetry as much as doubled the apparent effectiveness. It was concluded that the chromatographic method showed less bias to oils as dependant on their compositions. The results are shown in Table 9 and illustrated in Figure 9. These results are consistent with previously measured results noted in Section 3, namely that dispersant effectiveness is less with lower salinity.

Blondina et al. (1999) also measured the effectiveness of the dispersants Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500 on several oils. The results are summarized in Table 10 and illustrated in Figure 10 for Corexit 9500 and Figure 11 for Corexit 9527. Blondina and coworkers concluded that the interaction between the salinity of the receiving water and the ability of surfactant-based dispersants to enhance petroleum accommodation into the water column can be both oil- and dispersant-specific. They found that Corexit 9500 was more effective than Corexit 9527 on most oils at most salinities, but the opposite was true in some cases. Corexit 9500 maintained its effectiveness over a wider range of salinities. Blondina et al (1999) concluded that decisions should be made on a specific situation based on the oil, the dispersant, and the salinity of the receiving water.

Moles et al. (2001, 2002) conducted a series of measurements on Alaska North Slope (ANS) oil at lower temperatures and lower salinity. For Corexit 9500 at a temperature of 10°C and 22 °/oo, the effectiveness was 8% for fresh ANS and 2% for weathered ANS. Under the same conditions, Corexit 9527 showed an effectiveness of 10% for the fresh ANS and 5% for the weathered ANS. The effectiveness of Corexit 9500 and Corexit 9527 was tested on Alaska North Slope crude oil at various salinities and temperatures representative of conditions found in Southern Alaskan waters. The oil was weathered to different degrees. Tests were conducted in a swirling flask at temperatures of 3, 10, and 22°C with salinities of 22 and 32 °/oo. Analysis was by GC. The authors concluded that, at the common temperatures found in the estuaries and marine waters of Alaska, the dispersants were largely ineffective. They also found that there was an interactive effect between temperature and salinity. A high effectiveness for 'emulsion', an uncharacterized mixture of oil and water, was attributed to 'osmotic shock' because of the difference in the salinity of the preparation (33 °/00) and the test salinity. At the combinations of temperature and salinity such as might be typical for Alaska, dispersant effectiveness in the test was less than 10%. The results are summarized in Table 11. The data for the fresh ANS are plotted in Figure 12 for Corexit 9527 and in Figure 13 for Corexit 9500. Both figures generally show the decrease in effectiveness with decreasing salinity. There may be a relationship between temperature, salinity, and effectiveness as shown in these data.

The Moles data (Moles et al., 2001, 2002) were tested for ability to form a consistent relationship between temperature and salinity. This was carried out by correlating the three-dimension factors of effectiveness, salinity, and temperature. The results show that there is a high correlation for the fresh ANS and less so for the weathered and emulsified products. Table 12 shows the three-dimensional linear equation used to identify correlation. This shows that there is a good correlation between all factors, less so for the weathered and emulsified oils. A simple linear

equation is good for the fresh oil case but poor for the weathered and emulsified cases. Figures 14 to 17 show the linear correlations for the six oils. These figures show the three-way correlations as a plane surface or surface of best fit. Individual values are shown as circles and line extensions indicate whether these values are above or below the plane of best fit. It is important to note that such correlation as attempted here would be most valid if there were more data points.

Fingas et al. (2003) studied the effect of resurfacing of dispersed oil. As part of this study, a series of standard tests were conducted with Alberta Sweet Mixed Blend (ASMB) and Alaska North Slope (ANS) crude oils and the dispersants Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500. Results are shown in Table 13 and illustrated in Figure 18. The same tendencies as Moles et al. (2001, 2002) found for ANS were found in this study, namely that the effectiveness of Corexit 9500 with ANS increases as salinity increases and that of Corexit 9527 generally does as well, but this is variable. The effectiveness of Corexit 9527 appears to peak at a salinity of 25 o/oo. It is not yet known why ANS has shown this tendency in these studies. The ASMB and most other crudes shows the tendency throughout this study that the effectiveness is Gaussian with the peak in this case coming at about 20 o/oo.

Sterling et al. (2004) studied the coalescence of dispersed oil droplets. Theoretical studies were conducted using DLVO theory and kinetic studies were conducted using a laboratory apparatus. Sterling et al. came to the following conclusions.

1. For salinity and pH values found in natural waters, the  $\zeta$ - potential values of chemical dispersed crude oil were slightly negative. The  $\zeta$ - potential is a measure of charge between particles and is relevant to dispersants in that a higher  $\zeta$ - potential indicates a more stable particle and could imply a higher effectiveness. For a fixed pH value,  $\zeta$ - potential values become marginally more negative with increased water salinity. This is shown in Figure 19. Using DLVO theory, no significant electrostatic energy barrier to droplet coalescence was present. This implies that oil dispersions (including those with dispersants) are unstable over time.

2. Within the tested experimental conditions, the collision efficiency parameter,  $\alpha$ , (the probability of successful particle-particle collision) was significantly greater than 0. This result suggests that coalescence kinetics were important in estimating dispersant efficiency in laboratory-scale protocols and may be important in coastal spills. This is shown in Figure 20. The shear rate was the dominant parameter in estimating observed coalescence rates and dispersant efficiencies. This implies that the effectiveness is very dependent on shear rate, but that the resulting emulsions will also be unstable and in fact coalescence occurs faster under some energetic conditions.

3. Salinity had a limited influence on effectiveness values measured in this study. Sterling et al. suggest that salinity has a strong overall effect and thus, because salinity shows a lesser effect on coalescence, that salinity must have a greater effect on initial droplet formation.

#### 5. Salinity Effects in Surfactant Literature

A literature search was conducted of the body of literature on surface chemistry. This search focussed on the effects of salinity on various aspects involving the use of surfactants. The papers are summarized in Table 14 and, where available, numeric results are given in Table 15. The values in Table 15 are given in terms of relative values compared to the value at 0 o/oo.

Davis (1994) reviews the basic surfactant chemistry and physics. He notes that interfacial tension of an oil-water system varies widely with salinity and is generally at a minimum at 15 ppt for many surfactant systems. Davis also provides information on the typical phase changes with changing salinity, including the effects of alkane change length and water fraction. Ysambertt et al. (1997) describes the phase behaviour of emulsions noting that salinity was an important factor in describing phases.

Several authors have studied oil recovery and the effectiveness of surfactants with respect to the salinity of the pore water. Sayyouh et al. (1993) studied the effect of salinity on a surfactant-oilbrine system and found that the stability of the system increased up to the salinity of about 3.80/00 and then decreased as the salinity rose to 230/00. Fjelde and Austad (1994) studied the analysis of salt-tolerant and non-salt-tolerant surfactants, noting that ethoxylated anionic surfactants can tolerate high salinity water. These types of surfactants are not used in oil spill dispersants.

Several authors have tested oil reservoir recovery chemicals and found that increasing salinity increases performance of these surfactants (Austad et al., 1994; Fjelde et al., 1995; Austad and Strand, 1996. Wu et al. (2004) developed a new performance index for surfactants named the relative solubility index. This was used to examine a series of different surfactants at various salinities for oil recovery applications. Drummond and Israelachvili (2002) studied the fundamentals of surface forces and wettability, noting that recovery would be improved with increases in salinity. They also noted that recovery via natural surfactants is improved in high saline waters. Babadagli (2003) found that increasing salinity increased recovery with and without a surfactant. Zhang et al. (2004) studied natural surfactants and found that the recovery from reservoirs was increased with increasing salinity. Liu et al. (2004) studied the effectiveness of oil recovery and noted that increasing salinity increased the partition of surfactant into water. Al-Roomi et al. (2004) studied the use of surfactants to improve the flow properties of oil. Surfactants are used to emulsify oil into the water. Al-Roomi and co-workers found that the dispersion and viscosity reduction improved as surfactant content increased.

Several authors studied the effect of salinity on oil or specific hydrocarbons. Song and Islam (1994) studied the use of surfactant washing for cleaning petroleum from soil. They found that increasing salinity increased the removal or the effectiveness of the surfactant. Watt et al. (1998) studied the formation of a water-in-oil emulsion with a cationic surfactant and diesel oil. They found that the formation tendency increased with salinity up to about 300/00 salinity and then decreased. Li and Chen (2002) studied the solubilization of PAHs into water with surfactants and found that increasing salinity decreased the cloud point, increased the apparent solubility, and reduced the hydrodynamic radius. Li and Kunieda (2003) studied the effect of having a cationic and an anionic surfactant to dissolve oil and found that salinity increased the effectiveness of the surfactants. Ghannam and Chaalal (2003) tested a vacuum oil recovery system which also used

the surfactant Triton X-100. They found that increasing salinity greatly increased recovery. Moosai and Dawe (2003) studied the theoretical aspects of the use of gas flotation for oily wastewater cleanup. They noted that the flotation improves with salinity and surfactant amount. Chen et al. (2004) studied the change in interfacial tension between hexane and an ionic surfactant. The interfacial tension decreased sharply with a small amount of salinity and rose again slightly and peaked at about 10 ppt. Mollet et al. (1996) also studied interfacial tension but with paraffin oil and sodium linoleate and an in-situ formed surfactant. They found that the optimal IFT occurred with salinities between 10 and 30 ppt.

Some authors studied the solubilization of specific compounds. Chooro et al. (1996) studied the miscellization and adsorption of a zwitterionic surfactant, n-dodecyl betaine, with salt concentrations. These researchers found that the adsorption of the surfactant onto silica gel depended little on temperature, but very much on the salt concentration. Yu et al. (2004) studied the extraction of a bacterial toxin from water using a cationic surfactant. They found that increasing salinity increased the partition of the water portion of the extract. Park and Bielefeldt (2003) studied the partitioning of pentachorophenol into a mineral oil with varying amounts of a nonionic surfactant and found that a higher ionic strength increased the partitioning.

The effects on physical systems of surfactants and varying salinity were investigated by various authors. Abuin et al. (1993) studied the formation of microemulsions with ionic surfactants and found that stability increased with salinity for most CTAC surfactants and decreased if CTAB was the majority surfactant. Hou and Papadopoulis (1996, 1997) studied three-way emulsion droplets and found that the stability of these droplets with surfactant increased significantly with increasing salinity. Kaczmarski et al. (1999) studied the influences of surfactant and salinity on the viscosity of a polymer thickness. The viscosity of the thickner decreased with increasing salinity.

Kjøniksen et al. (1999) studied the formation of gels of ethyl (hydroxyethyl) cellulose with the surfactant sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) and found that the intermolecular structure of the gel is increased with increasing salinity. Prosser and Franses (2003) used a thermodynamic/electrostatic model to study sodium dodecyl sulfate/sulfonate systems. They concluded that salinity increases stability by lowering interfacial tension. Sabatini et al. (2003) studied the effect of linker molecules with surfactants in solubilization. They found that solubilization with naphthalenic sulfonates was very saline-dependent and governed the solubility/surfactant concentration relationship.

#### 6. Field Studies and Effects Studies

Some studies focussed on examining the effects of oil dispersed into the freshwater environment. Scott et al. (1979) studied the effects of a freshwater dispersal into a pond. The authors noted that there were significant similarities between the dispersed oil and the nondispersed oil. The dispersed oil remained in a 3 to 5 cm milky layer only for about an hour after which it separated and formed a slick similar to that of the oil-only pond. This indicates a relatively poor dispersant effectiveness.

Brown and Goodman (1989) report on an extensive study of the effects of oil in the freshwater environment. Several toxicity and behavioural tests are described, but these are not compared to similar species in the saltwater environment. Brown et al. (1990) describe a major field trial of dispersants in the freshwater environment. Three cubic metres of Norman Wells crude oil were spilled on each of two fen lakes. The slick on one lake was treated with the dispersant Corexit 9500. The workers claimed that the dispersant was effective at removing oil from the surface of the one lake but also reported the appearance of thick clumps of oil near the edge of the same pond. The impact of the oil on the fen appeared to be lessened by the use of the dispersant, gauged primarily by the impact on floating vegetation. After one month, there was little impact on either fen. This study concluded that the best response to a spill in such a lake was no response at all.

Clayton et al. (1989) studied chemical and mechanical dispersion in an artificial stream bed. They concluded that the value of added dispersant was tempered by various factors including viscosity of the oil, degree of exposure of sediment surfaces to the oil, sediment substrate characteristics, and water flow characteristics.

Wolfe et al. (1998) studied the uptake of naphthalene by an algae. The oil was Prudhoe Bay crude and the dispersant was Corexit 9527. It was found that the dispersant significantly affected the uptake of naphthalene (by as much as 50%). Salinity, however, did not affect this uptake significantly. The results are shown in Table 16 and Figures 21 and 22. These data show that the uptake of naphthalene and a,b naphthol sulphate are relatively unaffected by salinity. Wolfe et al. (1999) also studied the heat shock protein in *Isochrysis galbana*, a golden-brown algae and primary producer in marine food chains. Wolfe et al. found that the organism efficiently induced the heat shock protein hsp60 in response to elevated temperatures and exposure to low concentrations of petroleum hydrocarbons after a model oil spill and dispersant use. Differences in salinity were found to influence the induction of hsp60 by elevated temperature, WAF and DO preparations, and naphthalene. Increased salinity appeared to decrease the sensitivity of *I. Galbana* to hsp60 induction after exposure to these agents. They suggest that the hsp60 induction may serve as an adaptive function in *I. Galbana* to deal with exposures to oil and dispersants. This also suggests that dispersants/oil may be more toxic at low salinities.

#### 7. Salinity in Prince William Sound

The waters in Prince William Sound vary in salinity (Vaughn et al., 2001; Gay and Vaughn, 2001; Bang and Mooers, 2003). The data generally indicate that the salinity in the middle of the Sound is about 33 o/oo. As one enters areas influenced strongly by river outfalls, however, the salinity drops to that of freshwater. While the range of salinities in the Sound certainly raises concern, the salinity is generally higher than 20 o/oo in the centre of the sound where dispersants are likely to be used.

Figure 23 shows Prince William Sound and the detailed sampling stations. Figure 24 shows varying salinities at the Zaikof Bay station. This figure shows that surface salinities often are 28 o/oo and range only as high as 31.5. This is typical of most of the central portion of the Sound. Figure 25, on the other hand, shows the salinity profiles at Eaglek Bay. The water salinity in this area, which is typical of most of the fringe regions of Prince William Sound, ranges from 20 to 31.5 o/oo. A similar profile is seen in the Whale Bay data as shown in Figure 26. Table 17 shows recent salinity testing results. This data, from Tony Parkin, shows that the outfalls of creeks are very low in salinity. The smaller bays are also very low in salinity. Dispersant application should not be considered in or near such regions where salinity is below 20 o/oo. It must be noted however that salinity varies very much with season and location.

In Alaska, there are three distinct dispersant use zones (Annex I to the Alaska: RRT Dispersant Use Guidelines for Alaska). Zone 1 delineates an area where dispersant use has been preapproved. The On-Scene Coordinator (OSC) is not required to consult with any other agencies prior to the use of dispersants in this zone. In Zone 2, dispersant use can be approved by the OSC, but only with the concurrent approvals from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State of Alaska. The use of dispersants is not recommended in a Zone 3 but can be used on a case-by-case basis. Prior to use in a Zone 3, the OSC is required to consult with the Regional Response Team and obtain approvals from the EPA and the State of Alaska.

Generally, Zone 1 in Prince William Sound runs through the center and entrance of the Sound, what is commonly referred to as the "tanker lane." Zone 1 also runs along the southern edge of the entrance to the Sound. The Gulf of Alaska is a Zone 2. Much of the Eastern and Western areas are a Zone 3. Port Valdez is unique in that it has seasonal designations, that change it from a Zone 1 to a Zone 2 depending upon the season, although the eastern edge of the Port is always a Zone 3.

Alaska is unique in the United States in that it has a preapproval zones so close to the nearshore. Many of the preapproval zones in the other states are beyond three nautical miles. This is of concern with respect to salinity, as many of these pre-approval zones are in low salinity zones and the effectiveness of dispersants would be very low in these areas.

#### 8. Summary

Surfactants are the active ingredient in dispersants. Surfactants work to sustain oil droplets in the water by maintaining a portion of the molecule in the oil (lipophilic) and in the water (hydrophilic). The ratio of lipophilic to hydrophilic depends on the ionic strength of the water which relates directly to the salinity. The hydrophilic portion of the surfactant is more

soluble in water with a higher salinity. As salinity rises past a certain point, the surfactant becomes too soluble in the water and has a stronger tendency to partition to the water phase completely. Thus, in theory, the surfactant is more lipophilic in freshwater and increases in hydrophilicity as the salinity rises. The stability of the resulting droplets also depends on salinity due to the increasing ionic strength of the water as salinity rises. This increasing ionic strength results in greater molecular force. Again, as the salinity rises above a certain point, this point being dependent on the particular type of surfactant, this increased force results in more surfactant molecules leaving the oil drop entirely.

There is a theoretical scale of hydrophilic/lipophilic balance or HLB. This is calculated by the type of surfactant present. A surfactant with an HLB of 10 is a dispersant, that is the force of the molecule is equally balanced between hydrophilic and lipophilic tendencies. A surfactant of much greater than 10 is said to form oil-in-water emulsions (dispersions) and one of much lower than 10 can promote the formation of water-in-oil emulsions. The HLB of a surfactant changes with salinity. A low salinity lowers the HLB and vice versa. Thus, it is theoretically possible to design a dispersant with surfactants for lower salinity waters. While this possibility exists, it should be noted that the stability of dispersions is less in less saline waters. Furthermore, it should be noted that there are no recent measurements on freshwater dispersants, indicating that the industry has not pursued this avenue.

This report reviews several older dispersant tests beginning at 1979. These were separated from more recent data because both testing procedures and analytical methods used at that time are not as accurate as today's methods. Some older methods may, in fact, not yield data with sufficient accuracy to discriminate salinity effects. However, for the most part, this review shows that the older data, with a few exceptions, are entirely consistent in the generic conclusions of modern data, while not consistent in the actual numbers.

The following are the findings of several workers.

a) In waters with a salinity of 0 o/oo, most dispersants have a very low effectiveness or are sometimes even completely ineffective.

b) Dispersant effectiveness peaks in water with a salinity from 20 to 40 o/oo.

c) There is a relatively smooth gradient of effectiveness with salinity both as the salinity rises to a peak point of effectiveness and as it exceeds this value.

d) Some early works showed data anomalies, which may have resulted from measurement limitations and difficulties.

e) Studies published earlier than about 1989 are not highly accurate and contain the most anomalies.

Newer testing is also reviewed in this report. This testing is marked by the use of chromatography for analysis and the use of very strict protocols in operating the dispersant tests. These tests are marked by having standard deviations of less that 10% and often less than 5%. These are less than an order-of-magnitude of standard deviations in previous testing.

The followings are the conclusions of the authors of these newer studies.

a) In waters with a salinity of 0 o/oo, most dispersants have a very low effectiveness or are sometimes even completely ineffective.

b) Dispersant effectiveness peaks in water with a salinity from 20 to 40 o/oo. This may depend on the type of dispersant used. Corexit 9500 appears to be less sensitive to salinity, but

still peaks at about 35 o/oo. Corexit 9527 is more sensitive to salinity and appears to peak at about 25 o/oo with some oils and at about 35 o/oo with others.

c) There is a relatively smooth gradient of effectiveness with salinity both as the salinity rises to a peak point of effectiveness and as it exceeds this value. The curves for this salinity appear to be Gaussian as shown in Figures 3, 7, and 8.

d) While there is some evidence for a temperature-salinity interaction as noted in the data of Moles et al., 2002, there is not enough data to make solid conclusions.

e) Recent data are almost exclusively measured using Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500 and, since these have the same surfactant packages, there is a concern that the results may be more relevant to these formulations than to all possible formulations.

f) The values found in recent tests are much lower than the older tests, however, the trends are the same.

The general surfactant literature was reviewed for salinity effects on surfactants and surfactant phenomena. There is a body of literature on the use of surfactants for secondary oil recovery. There are several commonalities among the many findings. Recovery efficiency falls off at both high and low salinities. The salinity at which surfactant efficiency peaks is very dependent on the structure of the specific surfactant.

Several studies on the interaction of specific hydrocarbons and surfactants were reviewed. The consensus of these papers is that the solubility of the hydrocarbon increases with increasing salinity and decreases at low salinities. The interfacial tension of water and oil changes with surfactant and salinity. The interfacial tension is higher at lower salinities. The optimal interfacial tension is generally achieved at salinities of between 25 to 35 o/oo.

A number of physical systems involving surfactants and salinity changes are reported in the literature. Included in these is the finding that the stability of microemulsions is greater at salinities of 25 to 35 o/oo. Some workers found that the stability of systems was very low in fresh water or waters of salinities of < 10 o/oo. Similar effects were found with gels, polymer thickeners, and linker-molecule solubilization.

Some field studies of dispersant application were conducted in the freshwater environment. While effectiveness was not specifically measured, it was noted in both series of studies that effectiveness may have been low. In the one study, the investigators noted that the surfactants had poor effectiveness and stability. In this particular case, the dispersion lasted only about an hour and the dispersion was limited to a few centimetres. In another case, it was noted that in the dispersed pond, there was oil around the edges within a short time of dispersant application. Effects were monitored in both cases, but could not be compared and were not compared to similar applications at sea.

Some effects studies were conducted under varying salinity conditions. In one study, naphthalene and a,b napthol sulphate uptake were studied under different salinity conditions. There were no significant differences for different salinities, although naphthalene uptake was somewhat higher under low salinity conditions. Another study examined the induction of hsp60 protein in golden-brown algae. It was found that greater salinity reduced the effects of the simulated oil spills to the algae.

The salinity of the water in different parts of Prince William Sound was summarized. There are

areas of low salinity where dispersant application would result in reduced dispersant effectiveness.

#### 9. Conclusions

The following are the overall conclusions of this study.

a) In waters with a salinity of 0 o/oo, conventional and currently available dispersants have a very low effectiveness or are sometimes even completely ineffective. This is consistent with physical studies in the surfactant literature.

b) Dispersant effectiveness peaks in waters with a salinity ranging from 20 to 40 o/oo. This may depend on the type of dispersant. Corexit 9500 appears to be less sensitive to salinity, but still peaks at about 35 o/oo. Corexit 9527 is more sensitive to salinity and appears to peak at about 25 o/oo with some oils and at about 35 o/oo with others.

c) There is a relatively smooth gradient of effectiveness with salinity both as the salinity rises to a peak point of effectiveness and after it exceeds this value. The curves for this salinity effect appear to be Gaussian.

d) While there is some evidence for a temperature-salinity interaction as noted in the data of Moles et al., 2002, there is not enough data to make solid conclusions.

e) Recent data are almost exclusively measured using Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500. Since these have the same surfactant packages, there is a concern that the results may be more relevant to these formulations than to all possible formulations.

f) Observations on two field trials in freshwater appear to indicate that the laboratory tests are correct in concluding very low dispersant effectiveness in freshwater.

g) There were few studies on the biological effects of varying salinity and given oil exposure. There are not sufficient data to reach conclusions.

h) The findings in the dispersant literature reviewed here are in agreement with those in the theoretical and basic surfactant literature. The effect of ionic strength and salinity on both hydrophilic-lipophilic balance and stability is the reason for the decreased effectiveness noted at low salinities and the same decrease at high salinities above a certain peak of about 20 to 40 o/oo.

i) The waters of Prince William Sound are sometimes low in salinity, often less than 15 o/oo, especially near river outfalls. This could result in lower dispersant effectiveness.

Table 1 Summa	nyorrest	ing or Saimi	ty Effects on Dispers	sant Enectiveness	•
Author	Year	Dispersant	Specific	Type of	Generic
		Type (s)	Surfactant	Test	Regults
Wells and Harris	1979	Contrercial	Corexit 9527	Mackay	Effectiveness decreased very much from safewater.
Byford et al.	1983	Corrrercial	Several commercial dispersants	Labofina effectiveness	Saltw ater and f freshw ater dispersants decreased in effectiveness going down to zero salinity and decreased after 20 o/oo.
Lehtinen and Ves ala	1984	Contrercial	Twounidentified dispersants	Mackay	Decreased in effectiveness going dow n to low salinity.
Bek et al.	1989	Several	Designated A to F, both saltwater and freshwater dispersants	Labofina effectiveness	Saltwater and freshwater dispersants decreased in effectiveness going down to zero salinity and decreased after 20 o/oo.
Fingas et al.	1991	Corrrercial	Corexit 9527 & Enersperse 700	Swining Rask	Commercial dispersants decreased in effectiveness going dow n to zero salinity and decreased after about 35 o/oo.
Brandvik and Daling	1992	Several	Several commercial dispersants	IFP	Saltwater and freshwater dispersants decreased in effectiveness going down to 5 0.00 salinty and decreased after 20 o/oo. One Labofina product show ed opposite tendenov.
Fingas et al.	1994, 95b	Corrrercial	Corexit 9527 & Enersperse 700	Swining Rask	Commercial dispersants decreased in effectiveness going dow n to zero salinity and decreased after about 33 o/oo.
Brandvik et al.	1995	Several	Several commercial	IFP	Saltwater and freshwater dispersants decreased in effectiveness going down to 5 0.00 salinity and decreased after 20 o/oo. One Labofina moduct show ed onnosite
Moet et al.	1995	Corrrercial	Corexit 9527	Labofina effectiveness	Commercial dispersant decreased in effectiveness going dow n to zero sainity and decreased after about 33 o/oo.
Mackay	1995	Commercial	Corexit 9527	Bodet	Bifectiveness in distiled water was very low but didn't change much after sainity increased past 5 o/oo.
Blondina et al.	1997 a,b	Corrrercial	Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500	Swiring Rask	Effectiveness increased fromsalinity of 10 up to salinity of 30 for Corexit 9500 and up to 20 o/co and then decreased otherwise.
George-Ares et al.	2001	Corrrercial	Corexit 9500 Enersperse 1037 Dasic Freshwater hipol PF	Bodet	Effectiveness in distiled water could be improved by the addition of calcium chloride.
Moles et al.	2001	Corrrercial	Corexit 9527	Swiring Rask	Effectiveness increased fromsalinity of 10 up to salinity of 30 for Corexit 9500 and up to 20 o/co and then decreased otherwise.
Guyomarch et al.	2002	Connercial	hipol IP90	Special - 250 mL beaker	The aggregate size of particles increased with salinity.
Fingas et al.	2003	Commercial	Corexit 9527 and Corexit 9500	Swining Rask	Effectiveness increased from salinity of 10 up to salinity of 30 for Corexit 9500 and up to 20 o/oo and then decreased otherwise.

Table 1 Summary of Testing of Salinity Effects on Dispersant Effectiveness

Table 2	Data from	Belk et a	. (1989)							
Actual Va	lues Take	n from Gr	aph							
Effectivne	essfor Wa	rren Sprin	ci Oil at 10	°C	Effectivne	ess for Prud	lhoe Bav	Dil at 10°C		
Salinity	Disc A	Disp B	Disp C	Diso D	Salinity	Diso A	Disp B	Diso C	Disp D	
0	5	5	25	5	0	10	4	35	3	
5	10	8	23	10	5	25	12	27	7	
10	23	20	22	23	10	42	27	22	15	
15	60	55	25	25	15	57	36	22	22	
20	75	65	35	35	20	62	42	25	27	
25	77	67	47	47	25	57	37	28	35	
30	80	70	55	58	30	55	32	35	45	
35	82	72	60	60	35	42	25	37	52	
Effective	eefor Wa	ren Sprin	a Oil at 20		Effective	ee for Drug	Loo Bay	nil at 20°C		
Salinity	Dien A	Dien B	Dien C	DienD	Salinity	Dien A	Dien B		Dien D	
Samily	DISP A	UISP D	01sp C 27	Disp D	Samily	10 10	UISP D	01 <b>sp C</b>	2	-
0	47	0	37	2	0	12	0	32		
5	17	11	23	3	5	26	17	23	ь	
10	32	23	18	5	10	42	28	22	14	
15	47	32	20	10	15	55	40	24	20	
20	57	42	23	17	20	60	45	25	25	
25	65	46	27	27	25	58	42	30	32	
30	70	50	35	40	30	50	40	34	37	
35	72	52	43	47	35	40	32	37	41	
Effectivne	ssfor Wa	rren Sprin	g Oil at 10	°C Frankus	Effectivne	ess for War	ren Spring	j Oil at 20°	C Freshwatere	irp or antr
Salinity	Disp E	Disp F			Salinity	Disp E	Disp F			
0	62	25			0	55	32			
5	77	47			5	67	60			
10	85	62			10	74	74			
15	84	67			15	75	80			
20	82	72			20	73	80			
25	77	74			25	67	77			
30	75	72			30	60	75			
35	72	70			35	50	70			
Effective	eefor Dru	dhoe Bay	Oil at 10%	· · ·	Effective	ee for Drug	lboe Bay	nil at 20°C		
Salinity	Dien F	Dien E	Unation	∽ Freshwater	Salinity	Dien F	Dien F	on at 20°C	Franku ator dirp	ers antr
o	25 DISP E	24			Samily	01 <b>30 E</b> 04	22			
5	20	44			5	24	42			
10	40	44 50			10	44 50	43			
10	50	50			10	50	04			
10	60	60			20	70	60			
20	02 50	50			20	70 60	00			
20	50	50			20	00	00			
	30	54			30	60	64			
35	42	44			35	00	34			
Ionic Stre	ngth Effec	tsfor Dis	oersant E		Ionic Stre	ngth Effect	tsfor Disp	ersant F		
lonic stren	ngth mol I-1	Mg	Ca		lonic strer	ngth mol I-1	Mg	Ca		
0.	05	40	64		0.	.05	72	72		
0	.1	50	68		0	.1	76	66		
0	.2	65	70		0	.2	78	60		
0	.3	80	72		0	.3	79	56		
0	.4	85	72		0	.4	76	56		
0	.5	80	68		0	.5	72	58		
0	.6	72	56		0	.6	60	62		

Salinity	ASMB	ASMB	Norman Wells	Adgo
0/00	Corexit	Enersperse	Enersperse	Corexit
0	0	0	0	0
10	8	8	3	14
20	12	11	11	28
30	25	41	30	42
35	30	55	40	43
40	38	68	48	44
50	39	73	39	35
60	41	13	12	33
70	32	6	7	23
80	12	5	5	16
90	9	2	2	7

## Table 3 Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Fingas et al., 1991

Τa	۱b	le	4
	UN I	16	

#### Results of Older Salinity Testing

		Effectiveness % at a given salinity					nity
Oil and Temperature	Dispersant	Sali	nity	0/00			
Data from Byford et al.,	1983		0	5	10	22	33
Lago Medio Residue 0°C	Arochem D609	8			11	18	25
	Corexit 9527	10		12	18	30	35
North Slope Crude 0°C	Arochem D609	12		30	34	46	51
	Corexit 9527	12		35		48	52
North Slope Residue 0°C	Corexit 9550	22		61	62	52	50
	Dispolene 34S	15		60	62	58	62
	Finasol OSR5	15		17	20	19	21
	Corexit 9527	25		29	25	26	27
	Experimental	78		70	68	70	79
Data from Lehtinen and	Vesala, 1984		3	7	12		
Fresh Russian Crude 15°C	A	60		62	65		
	В	60		55	62		
	С	45		40	47		
Fresh Russian Crude 4°C	А	20		21	30		
	В	10		8	9		
	С	10		12	9		

			Effec	tiveness at Giver	n Salinity %		
Oil and	Dispersant	33 o/oo	5 0/00	Oil and	Dispersant	33 o/oo	5 0/00
Temperature				Temperature			
Oseberg 0°C	Dasic NS	80	5	IFO 0°C	Enersperse 700	67	48
	IKU-9	78	10	Weathered	Inipol IPC	42	37
	Inipol IPC	76	48		OSR 52	58	54
	E-700	76	55		Dasic Freshwater	37	38
	Dasic LTS	62	12		Inipol IPF	25	45
	E-1075	59	55	Veslefrikk 0°C	Enersperse 700	58	54
	Dasic Freshwater	38	45	w/o	Inipol IPC	80	40
	Corexit 9527	36	5		OSR 52	10	15
	Disp. 365	30	7		Dasic Freshwater	30	8
	Corexit 9550	29	20		Inipol IPF	8	60
	OSR 52	26	28	Oseberg 0°C	Enersperse 700	68	58
	Inipol IPF	24	50	w/o	Inipol IPC	68	44
	Disp. 385	20	24		OSR 52	25	35
	OSR 5	15	4		Dasic Freshwater	30	35
Oseberg 0°C	Enersperse 700	70	69		Inipol IPF	20	50
Weathered	Inipol IPC	68	40	IFO 0°C	Enersperse 700	30	4
	OSR 52	20	65	w/o	Inipol IPC	50	4
	Dasic Freshwater	25	23		OSR 52	30	4
	Inipol IPF	18	70		Dasic Freshwater	24	10
Oseberg 0°C	Enersperse 700	82	55		Inipol IPF	36	28
Weathered 2	Inipol IPC	86	30		•		
	OSR 52	80	30				
	Dasic Freshwater	65	58				
	Inipol IPF	25	70				
Dispersant	Salinity	Effectiv	eness				
IPF Inipol	0.5	38		_			
1	1.25	58					
	2	78					
	2.75	80					
	3.5	70					
IPC Inipol	0.5	85					
- 1	1.25	80					
	2	25					
	2.75	21					
	3.5	18					

## Table 5 Results of Salinity Testing from Brandvik and Daling, 1992

Salinity	ASMB	ASMB	Norman Wells	Adgo
0/00	Corexit 9527	Enersperse	Enersperse 700	Corexit
10	8	9	4	14
20	12	11	11	29
30	25	41	31	42
33	32	57	35	39
40	38	68	48	44
50	39	73	39	36
60	41	13	12	35
70	32	6	7	24
80	12	5	5	16
90	10	3	2	6

 Table 6
 Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Fingas et al., 1994, 1995b

#### Table 7Data from Moet et al., 1995

Salinity	Effectiveness (%)
0	3
20	6
30	16
33	14
40	7
50	3

Table 8	Data from Geor	ge-Aresetal.,	2001			
		Effectiveness	in Percent			
Crude Oil	Water	Corexit 9500	Corexit 9500 + Salt	Dasic Freshwater	Enersperse 1037	Inipol IPF
Hydra	Rio de la Plata	49	56,70	71	68	58
	Deionized	32	58	70	70,64	65
Escalante	Rio de la Plata	2	17	27	19	
	Deionized	<5	11 to 22	27	16	7
Canadon Deco	Rio de la Plata	21	25	34	36	
	Deionized	10	42,40	56	37	17

#### Table 9 Dispersant Effectiveness Measured by Blondina et al., 1997a, b

Oil Type	Salinit	Effective y (o/oo)	Effectiveness in % at given salinity (o/oo)					
Prudhoe Bay	35	30	25	20	15	10		
Corexit 9500	23	21	22	23	15	12		
Corexit 9527	34	29	13	13	9	5		

#### Table 10 Dispersant Effectiveness Measured by Blondina et al., 1999

Corexit 9500	Effectiveness in % at given salinity Salinity (⁰/oo)									
Oil Type										
	35	30	25	20	15	10	5	0		
Arabian Light	38	36	44		31		7			
Arabian Medium	20	24	26	24	11	10				
Forcados	21	31	35	37		26		6		
Kuwait	37	38	31		15		;	5		
Maya	16	11	12		6		;	3		
Oman	22	20	15		10		;	3		
Prudhoe Bay	23	21	22	23	15	12				

Corexit 9527 Oil Type	Effectiveness in % at given salinity Salinity (⁰/oo)								
	35	30	25	20	15	10	0		
Arabian Light	23	13	10		6				
Arabian Medium	10	5	7	6	6	3			
Forcados	54	63	55	48		17	6		
Kuwait	21	13	7						
Мауа	5	4							
Oman	7	5	6						
Prudhoe Bay	34	29	13	13	9	5			

Oil Type	Ten	nperature	Corexit 95 Effectiven	C ent	Corexit 9500		
			Salinity	,	Salinity	Salinity	
		°C	22 <sup>0</sup> /00	32 <sup>0</sup> /oo	22 º/oo	32 <sup>0</sup> /oo	
Fresh ANS	3		8.5	1	10	10	
		10	7.9	15	10	22	
		22	35	31	16	18	
20% evap. ANS	3		6.3	6.5	6.3	6.3	
		10	1.7	4.1	4.5	2.6	
		22	6.3	6.3	6.3	6.3	
emulsified' ANS	3		26	20	13	23	
		10	73	32	42	29	
		22	17	20	24	14	

#### Table 11 Data from Moles et al., 2001, 2002

#### Table 12 Prediction of Temperature and Salinity Interrelationship (Data from Moles et al., 2001, 2002)

Dispersant	Oil	а	b	С	Linear r <sub>2</sub>	Best r <sub>2</sub>
9527	fresh ANS	2.6	1.5	-0.15	0.92	0.94
9500	fresh ANS	-2.2	0.34	0.47	0.57	0.72
9527	weathered	2.6	0.026	0.09	0.07	0.85
9500	weathered	6.8	0.025	-0.06	0.07	0.85
9527	emulsion	77	-0.52	-0.15	0.19	0.61
9500	emulsion	37	-0.1	-0.43	0.06	0.68

Equation: Effectiveness = a + b\*temperature + c\*salinity

Oil	Dispersant	Salinity	Effectiveness	Std. Dev
ASMB	Corexit 9500	5	21.9	3.4
ASMB	Corexit 9500	10	24.1	1.3
ASMB	Corexit 9500	20	52.8	1.3
ASMB	Corexit 9500	33	43.8	6.5
ASMB	Corexit 9527	5	24.1	2.1
ASMB	Corexit 9527	10	23.3	2.2
ASMB	Corexit 9527	20	54.2	5.5
ASMB	Corexit 9527	33	36.6	3.5
ANS	Corexit 9500	5	19.4	1.1
ANS	Corexit 9500	10	18.8	0.7
ANS	Corexit 9500	20	21.9	1.9
ANS	Corexit 9500	33	34.8	4.7
ANS	Corexit 9527	5	17.1	0.8
ANS	Corexit 9527	10	17.2	1.7
ANS	Corexit 9527	20	24.6	0.8
ANS	Corexit 9527	33	25.9	2.8

Table 13	Salinity	and	Effectiveness	(Data	from	Fingas	et al.,
2003)							

ASMB = Alberta Sweet Mixed Blend

ANS = Alaska North Slope Blend

Table 14 Summary	y of Au	thors and Find	ings from Surfactant	Literature	
Author	Year	Surfactant	Specific	Type of	Generic
		Туре	Surfactant	Test	Results
Abuin et al.	1993	Ionic	CTAB and CTAC	Microemuls ion stabilization	Stabilization increases with salinity except for one surfactant
Al-Roomy et al.	2004				
Austad and Strand	1996	Ionic	Exxon RL-3011	Oil beh <i>a</i> viour	Salinity has large effect
Austad et al.	2004				
B ab ad ag li	2003	Nonionic	Oxyethanol ethyoxylate	Recovery from reservoir	Recovery increases with salinity
Chen et al.	2004	Ionic	CTAB	Interfacial tension	IFT decreases and then increases
Chooro et al.	1996	Zwitteronic	N-dodecyl Betaine	Relative solubility	RSD_decreases with salinity
Dawis	1994	Most		Reviews basics	IFT decreases with salinity
Drummond & Is raela chvili	2002	Various		Surface forces	Surface forces decrease with salinity
Fjelde and Austad	1994				
Fielde et al.	1995	Dualionic	6EOS & DD BS	Recoverv from reservoir	Recovervincreases with salinity
Ghannam and Chaalal	2003	Nonionic	Triton X100	Oil spill recovery	Recovery increases with salinity
Hou and Papadopoulis	1996	Nonionic	Tween 80 & Span 80	Droplet stability	Drop stability increases with salinity
Hou and Papadopoulis	1997	Nonionic	Tween 80 & Span 80	Droplet stability	Drop stability increases with salinity
Kaczmarski et al.	1999	Dual ionic & nonionic	SDS & Triton 100	Thickener viscosity	Viscosity lower as salinity increases
Kjøniksen et al.	1999	Ionic	SDS	Gelstructure	Salinity increases molecular associations
Li and Chen	2002	Nonionic	Tergitol 15-S-X, Triton X 100, Tween 20, Tween 80	Partitioning of org. into oil	Partitioning increases with salinity
Li and Kunieda	2003	Mixed	Anionic and cationic	Relative solubility	RSD decreases with salinity
Liu et al.	2004				
Mollet et al.	1996	Ionic	Sodium linole <i>a</i> te	Interfacial tension	IFT decreases and then increases
Moosai and Dawe	2003	Various	Various	Gas flotation	Wastewater cleanup improved with salinity
Park and Bielefeldt	2003	Nonionic	Tergitol NP-10	Partitioning of org. into oil	Partitioning increases with salinity
Prosser and Franses	2003	Ionic	SDS & SDSn	Model of IFT equilibrium	Salinity decreases IFT
Sabatini et al.	2003	Ionic	Naphthalene s ulphonates	Solubilization	∨ery salinity-dependent
Sayyouh et al.	1993	Ionic	Sulphonates	Phase behaviour of oil- surfactant-brine	Stability increases up to 3.8% and then decreases as salinity goes to 23%
Song & Islam	1994				, v
Wattetal.	1998	Cationic	CTAB	Water-in-oil emulsion	Formation improves up to about 30% s alinity
Wuetal.	2004	Nonionic	Brij 30	Relative solubility	RSD decreases with salinity
Wuetal.	2004	Nonionic	Tween 20	Relative solubility	RSD decreases with salinity
Wuetal.	2004	Nonionic	Igepol CO210	Relative solubility	RSD decreases with salinity
Ysambertt et al.	1997	Most		Reviews basics	Winsorstates affected by salinity
Yu et al.	2004	Cationic	Aliquat-336	Extraction effectiveness	Extraction increases with salinity
Zhang et al.	2004	Natural	Acid fractions	Recovery from reservoir	Recovery increases with salinity

Author	Sali	nity	Incre	ease	Change	Reduction	Notes
and			ir	ı	in	in	
Details	o/oc	)	Effect (	from 0)	Solubilty	IFT	
Wu et al., 2004	50				4.1		
nonionic	100				5.8		
		50			2.7		
		100			3		
		50			3.4		
		100			5.2		
Chen et al., 2004	1					99.7	
ionic	2					99.4	
		5				99.3	
		7				99.2	
		9				99.1	
		11				99.2	
		15				99.6	
Mollet et al., 1996	5					22	
· · · · · · , · · · ·		10				44	
		20				38	
		30				35	
Kaczmarski et al.	20		6	4			surf = .01
1999	30		8	4			surf = .01
	00	20	4	8			surf = .025
		30	7	2 7			surf = .025
		20	5	0			surf = .05
		30	9	0			surf = .05
Liand Chen 2002	05	00	5	0			partitioning
	0.0	5	7	5			partitioning
		10	10	0			partitioning
		0.5		5			reduced radius
		5	1	0			reduced radius
		10	1	0 7			reduced radius
Ghannam and Chaalal	10	10	F				still water
2003	20		15	, 50			still water
2000	20	30	26	50 50			still water
		10	20	5			circulated water
		20	1	, 6			circulated water
		30	3	6 6			circulated water
Savvouh et al 1993	5	00	Ŭ	0		20	
cayyoun or un, 1000	Ū	10				90	
		15				3	
		20				60	
Guvomarch et al	10	20	ſ	)		00	
2002	25		16	, 36			
	20	35	20	0			
		50	50	,			
		50	56	6			

# Table 15 Quantitative Data on Salinity Change from Surfactant Literature (all data converted to relative effectiveness compared to 0 salinity)

	Metabolic Uptake (as percentage recovered)						
	A,b Naptho	ol Sulphate	Napthale	ne			
Sample	22 0/00	34 o/oo	22 0/00	34 0/00			
20 C WAF - Control	1	2	98	96			
20 C WAF - Exp. Med.	5	8	93	90			
20 C WAF - Algae	4	1	80	85			
20 C Disp. oil - Control		2	99	96			
20 C Disp. oil - Exp. Med.	3	3	96	95			
20 C Disp. oil - Algae			95	92			
12 C WAF - Control	6	1	91	98			
12 C WAF - Exp. Med.	6	3	91	96			
12 C WAF - Algae			92	92			
12 C Disp. oil - Control	4		94	99			
12 C Disp. oil - Exp. Med.	5	3	93	96			
12 C Disp. oil - Algae			90	95			

## Table 16 Results of Metabolite Uptake (from Wolfe et al., 1998)

Table 17	<b>Recent Salinity Measurement Results</b>						
Summer Sam	pling Data -	June 24, 2004					
Location	Bligh Reef	Outer Jack Bay	Shoup Bay	Gold Creek	Mineral Creek	Glacial Creek	Lowe River
Latitude	60 47.926	61 02.305	61 07.612	61 07.533	61 07.53	61 06.183	61 05.778
Longitude	146 51.617	1 46 38.819	146 35.263	146 29.137	146 25.580	146 17.464	146 17.794
Surface							
Salinity o/oo	26.3	15.3	4.3	2.7	1.2	0.2	0.4
Temperature							
oC	13.6	15.6	7.2	10.3	10.6	3.6	5.3
Fall Sampling	Septembe	r 24, 2004					
Location		Outer Jack Bay		Gold Creek			Lowe River
Latitude		61 02.210		61 07.710			61 05.779
Longitude		1 46 40.191		146 28.828			146 17.723
Surface							
Salinity o/oo		20.6		17.7			2.7
Temperature							
oC		9.1		8.3			5.9



Figure 1 Salinity and Dispersant Test Results from Belk et al., 1989, Warren Springs Oil, Upper Plot: Prudhoe Bay Oil Lower Plot



Figure 2 Dispersant E and F Data from Belk et al., 1989



Figure 3 Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity from Fingas et al. 1991





Figure 4 Salinity and Dispersant Effectiveness Data from Byford et al., 1983 and Lehtinen and Vesala, 1984



Figure 5 Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity from Brandvik et al. 1995



Figure 6 Dispersant/Salinity Test on Two Inipol dispersants - Inipol IFC was a Special Freshwater Dispersant (Data from Brandvik and Daling, 1992)



Figure 7 Tests on Dispersant Effects with Varying Salinity (Data from Fingas et al., 1994)



Figure 8 Dispersant Effectiveness Data for Corexit 9527 and a Light Arabian Crude (Data from Moet et al., 1995)



Figure 9 Dispersant Effectiveness Data on ANS Crude (Data from Blondina et al., 1997 a,b)



Figure 10 Effectiveness of Corexit 9500 with Salinity (Data from Blondina et al., 1999)



Figure 11 Effectiveness of Corexit 9527 with Salinity (Data from Blondina et al., 1999)



Figure 12 Three-way Relationship of Effectiveness, Salinity, and Temperature for Corexit 9527 and Fresh ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)



Figure 13 Three-way Relationship of Effectiveness, Salinity and Temperature for Corexit 9500 and Fresh ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)







Figure 15 Three-Way Correlation of Corexit 9500 Effectiveness with Fresh ANS (Moles et al., 2002)



Figure 16 Three-Way Correlation of Corexit 9527 Effectiveness with Weathered ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)



Figure 17 Three-Way Correlation of Corexit 9500 Effectiveness with Weathered ANS (Data from Moles et al., 2002)



Figure 18 Variation of Dispersant Effectiveness with Salinity (Data from Fingas et al., 2003)



Figure 19 Measured Zeta Potential Values of Chemically Dispersed Crude Oil Droplets at Selected pH Values (Data from Sterling et al., 2004)



Figure 20 Effect of Shear Rate on Collision Efficiency (Data from Sterling et al., 2004)



Figure 21 Variation in Uptake of Naphthalene by Algae (Data from Wolfe et al., 1998)



Figure 22 Variation in Uptake of a,b Naphthol Sulphate by Algae (Data from Wolfe et al., 1998)



Figure 23 An Overview of Prince William Sound Showing Detailed Sample Sites



# Zaikof Bay, Station 13

Figure 24 A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Zaikof Bay Sampling Site (Vaughn et al., 2001)



Figure 25 A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Eaglek Bay Sampling Site (Vaughn et al., 2001)



Figure 26 A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Whale Bay Sampling Site (Vaughn et al., 2001)



Figure 27 A Temperature/Salinity Graph from Simpson Bay Sampling Site (Vaughn et al., 2001)

## 10. References

Abuin, E.B., M.A. Rubio and E.A. Lissi, "Solubility of Water in Water-in-Oil Microemulsions Stabilized by Cetyltrimethylammonium: Effects of the Surfactant Counterion, the Nature and Composition of the Oil and the Salinity of the Droplets", *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 158, pp. 129-132, 1993.

Al-Roomi, Y., R. George, A. Egibaly and A. Elkamel, "Use of a Novel Surfactant for Improving the Transportability/transportation of Heavy/viscous Crude Oils", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 42, pp. 234-243, 2004.

Austad, T. and S. Strand, "Chemical Flooding of Oil Reservoirs 4. Effects of Temperature and Pressure on the Middle Phase Solubilization Parameters Close to Optimum Flood Conditions", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 108, pp. 243-252, 1996.

Austad, T., I. Fjelde, K. Veggeland and K. Taugbøl, "Physicochemical Principles of Low Tension Polymer Flood", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 10, pp. 255-269, 1994.

Babadagli, T., "Selection of Proper Enhanced Oil Recovery Fluid for Efficient Matrix Recovery in Fractured Oil Reservoirs", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 223, pp. 157-173, 2003.

Bang, I. and C.N.K. Mooers, "The Influence of Several Factors Controlling the Interactions between Prince William Sound, Alaska and the Northern Gulf of Alaska", *Journal of Physical Oceanography*, 33, pp. 19-36, 2003.

Becher, P., *Emulsions: Theory and Practice*, Robert E. Krieger Publishing Company, Huntington, NY, 1977.

Belk, J.L., D.J. Elliott and L.M. Flaherty, "The Comparative Effectiveness of Dispersants in Fresh and Low Salinity Waters", in *Proceedings of the 1989 International Oil Spill Conference*, American Petroleum Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 333-336, 1989.

Blondina, G.J., M.L. Sowby, M.A. Ouano, M.M. Singer and R.S. Tjeerdema, "Comparative Efficacy of Two Corexit Dispersants as Measured Using California's Modified Swirling Flask Test", in *Proceedings of the Twentieth Arctic Marine Oilspill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 561-573, 1997a.

Blondina, G.J., M.L. Sowby, M.T. Ouano, M.M. Singer and R.S. Tjeerdema, "A Modified Swirling Flask Efficacy Test for Oil Spill Dispersants", *Spill Science and Technology Bulletin*, 4, pp. 177-185, 1997b.

Blondina, G.J., M.M. Singer, I. Lee, M.T. Ouano, M. Hodgins, R.S. Tjeerdema and M.L. Sowby, "Influence of Salinity on Petroleum Accommodation by Dispersants", *Spill Science & Technology Bulletin*, 5(2), pp. 127-134, 1999.

Brandvik, P.J. and P.S. Daling, "Laboratory Testing of Dispersants Under Arctic Conditions", in *Proceedings of the Fifteenth Arctic Marine Oilspill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment

Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 123-134, 1992.

Brandvik, P.J., O.O. Knudsen, M.O. Moldestad and P.S. Daling, "Laboratory Testing of Dispersants Under Arctic Conditions", in *The Use of Chemicals in Oil Spill Response*, STP 1252, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 191-206, 1995.

Brown, H.M. and R.H. Goodman, "Dispersants in the Freshwater Environment", in *Oil Dispersants: New Ecological Approaches*, STP 1018, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 31-40, 1989.

Brown, H.M., J.S. Goudey, J.M. Foght, S.K. Cheng, M. Dale, J. Hoddinott, L.R. Quaife and D.W.S. Westlake, "Dispersion of Spilled Oil in Freshwater Systems: Field Trial of a Chemical Dispersant", *Oil and Chemical Pollution*, 6, pp. 37-54, 1990.

Byford, D.C., P.J. Green and A. Lewis, "Factors Influencing the Performance and Selection of Low-Temperature Dispersants", in *Proceedings of the Sixth Arctic Marine Oilspill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 140-150, 1983.

Chen, H., L. Han, P. Luo and Y. Ye, "The Interfacial Tension between Oil and Gemini Surfactant Solution", *Surface Science*, 552, pp. L53-L57, 2004.

Chooro, M., N. Kamenka, B. Faucompre, S. Partyka, M. Lindheimer and R. Zana, "Miscellization and Adsorption of a Zwitterionic Surfactant: N-dodecyl Betaine - Effect of Salt", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 110, pp. 249-261, 1996.

Clayton, J.R., G.H. Farmer, J.R. Payne, G.D. McNabb, P.C. Harkins, J.S. Evans, N.P. Rottlunda, C.R. Phillips and M.L. Evans, "Effects of Chemical Dispersant Agents on the Behavior and Retention of Spilled Crude Oil in a Simulated Streambed Channel", in *Oil Dispersants: New Ecological Approaches*, STP 1018, L.M. Flaherty (ed.), American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 4-24, 1989.

Clayton, J.R., Jr., J.R. Payne, S.-F. Tsang, V. Frank, P. Marsden and J. Harrington, "Chemical Oil Spill Dispersants: Update State-of-the-Art on Mechanism of Action and Laboratory Testing for Performance", EPA/600/S-92/065, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH, 6 p., 1992.

Clayton, Jr., J.R., J.R. Payne and J.S. Farlow, *Oil Dispersants: Mechanisms of Action and Laboratory Tests*, C.K. Smoley for CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 103 p., 1993.

Davis, H.T., "Factors Determining Emulsion Type: Hydrophile-lipophile Balance and Beyond", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 91, pp. 9-241, 1994.

Drummond, C. and J. Israelachvili, "Surface Forces and Wettability", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 33(1-3), pp. 123-133, 2002.

Fingas, M.F., I. Bier, M. Bobra and S. Callaghan, "Studies on the Physical and Chemical Behaviour of Oil and Dispersant Mixtures", in *Proceedings of the 1991 International Oil Spill Conference*, American Petroleum Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 419-426, 1991.

Fingas, M.F., D.A. Kyle and E.J. Tennyson, "Physical and Chemical Studies on Oil Spill Dispersants: Effectiveness Variation with Energy", in *Proceedings of the Fifteenth Arctic and Marine Oilspill Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 135-142, 1992.

Fingas, M.F., D.A. Kyle, Z. Wang, F. Ackerman and J. Mullin, "Testing of Oil Spill Dispersant Effectiveness in the Laboratory", in *Proceedings of the Seventeenth Arctic and Marine Oilspill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 905-941, 1994.

Fingas, M.F., D.A. Kyle, P. Lambert, Z. Wang and J.V. Mullin, "Analytical Procedures for Measuring Oil Spill Dispersant Effectiveness in the Laboratory", in *Proceedings of the Eighteenth Arctic and Marine Oil Spill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 339-354, 1995a.

Fingas, M.F., D.A. Kyle and E.J. Tennyson, "Dispersant Effectiveness: Studies Into the Causes of Effectiveness Variations", in *The Use of Chemicals in Oil Spill Response*, STP 1252, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 92-132, 1995b.

Fingas, M.F., Z. Wang, B. Fieldhouse and P. Smith, "Dispersed Oil Resurfacing with Time", in *Proceedings of the Twenty-Sixth Arctic and Marine Oil Spill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 731-742, 2003.

Fjelde, I. and T. Austad, "HPLC Analysis of Salt Tolerant Mixtures of Ethoxylated and Nonethoxylated Sulfonates Applicable in Enhanced Oil Recovery", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 82, pp. 85-90, 1994.

Fjelde, I., T. Austad and J. Miller, "Adsorption VII. Dynamic Adsorption of a Dual Surfactant System onto Reservoir Cores at Seawater Salinities", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 13, pp. 193-201, 1995.

Flaherty, L.M., W.B. Katz and S. Kaufman, "Dispersant Use Guidelines for Freshwater and Other Inland Environments", in *Oil Dispersants: New Ecological Approaches*, STP 1018, L.M. Flaherty (ed.), American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 25-30, 1989.

Fritz, D.E., "Effect of Salinity on Chemical Effectiveness", in *Proceedings of a Workshop on the Use of Chemical Countermeasures Product Data for Oil Spill Planning and Response*, NOAA, Seattle, WA, pp. 75-81, 1995.

Gay, S.M. and S.L. Vaughn, "Seasonal Hydrography and Tidal Currents of Bays and Fjords in Prince William Sound, Alaska", *Fisheries Oceanography*, 10(Suppl. 1), pp. 159-193, 2001.

George-Ares, A., R.R. Lessard, K.W. Becker, G.P. Canevari and R.J. Fiocco, "Modification of the Dispersant Corexit 9500 for Use in Freshwater", in *Proceedings of the 2001 International Oil Spill Conference*, American Petroleum Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 1209-1211, 2001. Ghannam, M.T. and O. Chaalal, "Oil Spill Cleanup Using Vacuum Technique", *Fuel*, 82, pp. 789-797, 2003.

Guyomarch, J., S. Le Floch and F.-X. Merlin, "Effect of Suspended Mineral Load, Water Salinity and Oil Type on the Size of Oil-Mineral Aggregates in the Presence of Chemical Dispersant", *Spill Science and Technology*, 8, pp. 95-100, 2002.

Hou, W. and K.D. Papadopoulis, "W<sub>1</sub>/O/W<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>1</sub>/W/O<sub>2</sub> Globules Stabilized with Span 80 and Tween 80", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, Vol. 125, pp. 181-187, 1997.

Hou, W. and K.D. Papadopoulis, "Stability of Water-in-oil-in-water Type Globules", *Chemical Engineering Science*, 51, pp. 5043-5051, 1996.

Kaczmarski, J.P., M-R. Tarng, Z. Ma and J.E. Glass, "Surfactant and Salinity Influences on Associative Thickener Aqueous Solution Rheology", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 147, pp. 39-53, 1999.

Kjøniksen, A-L., B. Nyström and B. Lindman, "Dynamic Light Scattering on Semidilute Aqueous Systems of Ethyl (hydroxyethyl) Cellulose. Effects of Temperature, Surfactant Concentration, and Salinity", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 149, pp. 347-354, 1999.

Lehtinen, C.M. and A.M. Vesala, "Effectiveness of Oil Spill Dispersants at Low Salinities and Low Water Temperatures", in *Oil Spill Chemical Dispersants: Research, Experience and Recommendations*, T.E. Allen (ed.), STP 840, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 108-121, 1984.

Li, J.-L. and B.-H. Chen, "Solubilization of Model Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons by Nonionic Surfactants", *Chemical Engineering Science*, 57, pp. 2825-2835, 2002.

Li, X. and H. Kunieda, "Catanionic Surfactants: Microemulsion Formation and Solubilization", *Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science*, Vol. 8, pp. 327-336, 2003.

Liu, Q., M. Dong, W. Zhou, M. Ayub, Y.P. Zhang and S. Huang, "Improved Oil Recovery by Adsorption-desorption in Chemical Flooding", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 2004. (in press)

Martinelli, F.N. and B.W.J. Lynch, "Factors Affecting the Efficiency of Dispersants", LR 363 (OP), Warren Spring Laboratory, Stevenage, 18 p., 1980.

Mackay, D., "Effectiveness of Chemical Dispersants Under Breaking Wave Conditions", in *The Use of Chemicals in Oil Spill Response*, STP 1252, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 310-340, 1995.

McAuliffe, C.D., "The Use of Chemical Dispersants to Control Oil Spills in Shallow Nearshore Waters", STP 1018, American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 49-72, 1989.

Moet, A., M.Y. Bakr, M. Abdelmonim and O. Abdelwahab, "Factors Affecting Measurements of the Efficiency of Spilled Oil Dispersion", *Preprints - Symposium on General Papers and Poster* 

*Session for the Division of Petroleum Chemistry*, 210 National Meeting, American Chemical Society, Vol. 40, pp. 564-566, 1995.

Moles, A., L. Holland and J. Short, "The Effectiveness of Corexit 9527 and 9500 in Dispersing Fresh, Weathered and Emulsion of Alaska North Slope Crude Oil Under Subarctic Conditions", Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council, Anchorage, AK, 24 p., 2001.

Moles, A., L. Holland and J. Short, "Effectiveness in the Laboratory of Corexit 9527 and 9500 in Dispersing Fresh, Weathered and Emulsion of Alaska North Slope Crude Oil Under Subarctic Conditions", *Spill Science and Technology Bulletin*, 7, pp. 241-247, 2002.

Mollet, C., Y. Touhami and V. Hornof, "A Comparative Study of the Effect of Ready-Made and In Situ Formed Surfactants on Inter-facial Tension Measured by Drop Volume Tensiometry", *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 178, pp. 523-530, 1996.

Moosai, R. and R.A. Dawe, "Gas Attachment of Oil Droplets for Gas Flotation for Oily Wastewater Cleanup", *Separation and Purification Technology*, 33, pp. 303-314, 2003.

Park, S-K. and A.R. Bielefeldt, "Equilibrium Partitioning of a Non-ionic Surfactant and Pentachlorophenol between Water and a Non-aqueous Phase Liquid", *Water Research*, 37, pp. 3412-3420, 2003.

Peabody, C.H., "Freshwater Dispersant Study", in *Proceedings of the Fifth Arctic Marine Oilspill Program Technical Seminar*, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 265-274, 1982.

Prosser, A.J. and E.I. Franses, "New Thermodynamic/Electrostatic Models of Adsorption and Tension Equilibria of Aqueous Ionic Surfactant Mixtures: Application to Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate/sodium Dodecyl Sulfonate Systems", *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 263, pp. 606-615, 2003.

Sabatini, D.A., E. Acosta and J.H. Harwell, "Linker Molecules in Surfactant Mixtures", *Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science*, 8, pp. 316-326, 2003.

Sayyouh, M.H., M.S. Al-Blehed and A.M. Attla, "The Effect of Alkaline and Polymer Additives on Phase Behaviour of Surfactant-oil-brine System at High Salinity Conditions", *Revue de L'Institut Francais du Petrole*, 48, pp. 359-369, 1993.

Scott, B.F., E. Nagy, J.P. Sherry, B.J. Dutka, V. Glooschenko, N.B. Snow and P.J. Wade, "Ecological Effects of Oil-Dispersant Mixtures in Fresh Water", in *Proceedings of the 1979 International Oil Spill Conference*, American Petroleum Institute, Washington, DC, pp. 565-571, 1979.

Song, F.Y. and M.R. Islam, "Effect of Salinity and Rock Type on Sorption Behaviour of Surfactants as Applied in Cleaning of Petroleum Contaminants", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 10, pp. 321-336, 1994.

Sterling, M.S., J.S. Bonner, A.N.S. Ernest, C.A. Page and R.L. Autenreith, "Chemical Dispersant

Effectiveness Testing: Influence of Droplet Coalescence", *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48, pp. 969-977, 2004.

Vaughn, S.L., C.N.K. Mooers and S.M. Gay, "Physical Variability in Prince William Sound during the SEA Study (1994-98)", *Fisheries Oceanography*, 10(Suppl. 1), pp. 58-80, 2001.

Watt, S.L., D. Tunaley and S. Biggs, "The Formation of Water-in-oil Microemulsions Using a Concentrated Saline Aqueous Solution", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 137, pp. 25-33, 1998.

Wells, P.G. and G.W. Harris, "Dispersing Effectiveness of Some Oil Spill Dispersants: Testing with the 'Mackay Apparatus'", *Spill Technology Newsletter*, 4, pp. 232-241, 1979.

Wolfe, M.F., G.J.B. Schwartz, S. Singaram, E.E. Mielbrecht, R.S. Tjeerdema and M.L. Sowby, "Effects of Salinity and Temperature on the Bioavailability of Dispersed Petroleum Hydrocarbons to the Golden-Brown Algae, *Isochrysis galbana*", *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 35, pp. 268-273, 1998.

Wolfe, M.F., H.E. Olsen, K.A. Gasuad, R.S. Tjeerdema and M.L. Sowby, "Induction of Heat Shock Protein (hsp)60 in *Isochrysis galbana* Exposed to Sublethal Preparations of Dispersant and Prudhoe Bay Crude Oil", *Marine Environmental Research*, 47, pp. 473-489, 1999.

Wu, J., Y. Xu, T. Dabros and H. Hamza, "Development of a Method for Measurement of Relative Solubility of Nonionic Surfactants", *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physiocochem Engineering Aspects*, 232, pp. 229-237, 2004.

Ysambertt, F., R. Anton and J-L. Salager, "Retrograde Transition in the Phase Behaviour of Surfactant-Oil-Water Systems Produced by an Oil Equivalent Alkane Carbon Number Scan", *Colloids and Surfaces A; Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 125, pp. 131-136, 1997.

Yu, H., B.K. Man, L.L.Chan, M.H. Lam, P.K. Lam, L. Wang, H. Jin and R.S. Wu, "Cloud-point Extraction of Nodularin-R from Natural Waters", *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 509, pp. 63-70, 2004.

Zhang, L., L. Luo, S. Zhao, Z-C. Xu, J-Y An and J-Y Yu, "Effect of Different Acidic Fractions in Crude Oil on Dynamic Interfacial Tensions in Surfactant/alkali/model Oil Systems", *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 41, pp. 189-198, 2004.